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qualifies as testimonial under either Craw-
ford or Davis, remains unclear from these
holdings.  This Court, however, finds it
unnecessary to determine whether Rich-
ardson’s statement qualifies as testimonial
because the Court finds that any potential
error was harmless given the totality of
all other evidence available at trial.  See
Jordan v. Hurley, 397 F.3d 360, 363 (6th
Cir.2005) (citing Bulls v. Jones, 274 F.3d
329, 334 (6th Cir.2001)) (noting that courts
review confrontation violations under the
harmless error standard).

V. Conclusion

For the above stated reasons, Report &
Recommendation of the Magistrate Judge
is adopted in its entirety.  Hilliard’s peti-
tion for writ of habeas corpus is denied.
The court certifies, pursuant to 28 USC
1915(a)(3), that an appeal from this deci-
sion could not be taken in good faith, and
that there is no basis on which to issue a
certificate of appealability.  28 USC 2253;
Fed.R.App.P. 22(b).

IT IS SO ORDERED.

JUDGMENT ENTRY

For the reasons stated in the Memoran-
dum Opinion filed contemporaneously with
this entry, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED,
ADJUDGED and DECREED that the Re-
port and Recommendation of the Magis-
trate Judge is adopted in its entirety.
(Doc. No. 9).

FURTHER ORDERED that Hilliard’s
petition for writ of habeas corpus is de-
nied.

FURTHER ORDERED that under 28
U.S.C. § 1915(a), an appeal of this case
should not proceed in forma pauperis as it
would not be taken in good faith.

FURTHER ORDERED that a motion
for certificate of probable cause under 28
U.S.C. § 2253 is denied sua sponte.

,
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to access credit report once mortgage
loan had been discharged in bankrupt-
cy, but
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noncompliance’’ liability standard.

Motions granted in part and denied in
part.

1. Credit Reporting Agencies O1

Consumer asserting claim of improper
use or acquisition of credit report under
Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA) must
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establish that: (1) there was ‘‘consumer
report’’ within meaning of Act; (2) defen-
dant used or obtained it; (3) defendant did
so without permissible statutory purpose;
and (4) defendant acted with requisite de-
gree of culpability, either negligence or
willfulness.  Fair Credit Reporting Act,
§§ 605(a)(3), (f), 616(a), 617(a), 15 U.S.C.A.
§§ 1681b(a)(3), (f), 1681n(a), 1681o(a).

2. Credit Reporting Agencies O1

Mortgage lender lacked legitimate
business need to access credit report of
former mortgagor once mortgage loan had
been discharged in Chapter 7 bankruptcy
proceeding, and thus did not act with ‘‘per-
missible purpose’’ under Fair Credit Re-
porting Act (FCRA) when it conducted
titleholder account review that included
former mortgagor; account review could
not have been ‘‘in connection with a trans-
action initiated by the consumer,’’ since
mortgage loan had been discharged, nor
could it have been ‘‘to determine whether
the consumer continues to meet the terms
of the account.’’  Fair Credit Reporting
Act, § 605(a)(3)(F), (f), 15 U.S.C.A.
§ 1681b(a)(3)(F), (f).

3. Credit Reporting Agencies O1

Mortgage lender that accessed credit
report of former mortgagor after mort-
gage loan had been discharged in Chapter
7 bankruptcy proceeding, in violation of
Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA), was
not within Act’s ‘‘willful noncompliance’’
liability standard; there was no showing
that lender ran risk of violating Act that
was substantially greater than risk associ-
ated with carelessness, and there was no
judicial precedent as to whether Act per-
mitted user of credit information to access
such information for account discharged in
bankruptcy.  Fair Credit Reporting Act,
§§ 605(f), 616(a), 617(a), 15 U.S.C.A.
§§ 1681b(f), 1681n(a), 1681o(a).

4. Credit Reporting Agencies O1
Fair Credit Reporting Act’s (FCRA)

willfulness liability standard covers not
only knowing violations of statute, but also
reckless ones.  Fair Credit Reporting Act,
§ 616(a), 15 U.S.C.A. § 1681n(a).

5. Credit Reporting Agencies O4
Whether conduct is willful under Fair

Credit Reporting Act (FCRA) is generally
a question of fact.  Fair Credit Reporting
Act, § 616(a), 15 U.S.C.A. § 1681n(a).

Steven Charles Shane, Bellevue, KY, for
Plaintiff.

Caroline Gentry, Porter Wright Morris
& Arthur, Jennifer Nicole Fuller, Dayton,
OH, for Defendant.

OPINION & ORDER

MICHAEL R. BARRETT, District
Judge.

This matter is before the Court upon the
parties’ Motions for Summary Judgment
(Docs. 19, 20);  Memoranda in Opposition
(Docs. 23, 24);  and Replies (Docs. 31, 32).

I. BACKGROUND

The parties agree that the material facts
are not in dispute.

This matter arises out of a mortgage
agreement between the parties.  In Sep-
tember of 2003, Defendant agreed to pro-
vide a home mortgage loan to Plaintiff and
her husband for the purchase of property.
(Doc. 17, Midge Baker Depo. at 9) On
December 30, 2005, Plaintiff and her hus-
band divorced, and Plaintiff moved out of
the property the following month.  (Doc.
20–2, Wanda Godby Aff. ¶ 3) On March 22,
2005, Plaintiff and her ex-husband filed for
Chapter 7 bankruptcy and listed Defen-
dant as a creditor.  (Doc. 1, ¶ 5) Plaintiff
filed a ‘‘Debtor’s Statement of Intention’’
to surrender the property.  (Doc. 20, Ex.
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E) However, Plaintiff continued to be the
titleholder of record until July 27, 2007.
(Doc. 19, Ex. A) Neither party has ex-
plained why Plaintiff remained on the ti-
tle.1

Plaintiff’s debt, including the mortgage
account, was discharged on July 19, 2005.
(Id. ¶ 6) Defendant received notice that the
debt had been discharged.  (Baker Depo.
at 12–13)

On March 2, 2007, Defendant conducted
an account review of titleholders for prop-
erty in which it had an interest as required
by the respective security instruments.
(Baker Depo. at 13–14) Because Plaintiff
was still the titleholder for the property,
she was included in this group.  (Id. at 23–
24) Defendant maintains that in conducting
the account review, it was provided with
only the titleholder’s FICO score.  (Id. at
13) Defendant explains that an account
review is classified as a ‘‘soft hit,’’ which is
an inquiry that can only be viewed by the
consumer, and never by any third party,
including any creditor or potential credi-
tor.  (Id. at 16)

In her Complaint, Plaintiff brings one
claim for violation of the Fair Credit Re-
porting Act (‘‘FCRA’’).  Plaintiff alleges
that Defendant obtained credit information
for an impermissible purpose in violation
of 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(f) and under false
pretenses in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1681q.

II. ANALYSIS

A. Motion for Summary Judgment
Standard

Summary judgment is appropriate ‘‘if
the pleadings, depositions, answers to in-

terrogatories, and admissions on file, to-
gether with the affidavits, if any, show that
there is no genuine issue as to any materi-
al fact and that the moving party is enti-
tled to a judgment as a matter of law.’’
Fed.R.Civ.P. 56(c).  The moving party has
the burden of showing an absence of evi-
dence to support the non-moving party’s
case.  Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S.
317, 325, 106 S.Ct. 2548, 91 L.Ed.2d 265
(1986).  Once the moving party has met its
burden of production, the non-moving par-
ty cannot rest on his pleadings, but must
present significant probative evidence in
support of his complaint to defeat the mo-
tion for summary judgment.  Anderson v.
Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248–49,
106 S.Ct. 2505, 91 L.Ed.2d 202 (1986).
The mere existence of a scintilla of evi-
dence to support the non-moving party’s
position will be insufficient;  the evidence
must be sufficient for a jury to reasonably
find in favor of the non-moving party.  Id.
at 252, 106 S.Ct. 2505.

B. Fair Credit Reporting Act

The parties do not dispute that the
FCRA is applicable.  Defendant admits
that it is a ‘‘user’’ of credit information as
that term is defined in the Act. Plaintiff
brings claims under two sections of the
FCRA:  (1) obtaining a consumer report by
use of false pretenses, § 1681q;  and (2)
obtaining a consumer report for an imper-
missible purpose, § 1681b(f).2

Plaintiff cites to this Court’s decision in
Thibodeaux v. Rupers for the proposition

1. There also has been no explanation as to

why Defendant continued to send delinquent

account statements to Plaintiff.  (Id. at 20–21)

Defendant also continued to report the ac-

count as open and delinquent to various cred-

it reporting agencies.  (Doc. 20, Ex. A) A

March 21, 2007 credit report shows a balance

on the account, as well as a past due amount.
(Id.)

2. 15 U.S.C. § 1681q provides:  ‘‘Any person
who knowingly and willfully obtains informa-
tion on a consumer from a consumer report-
ing agency under false pretenses shall be
fined under Title 18, imprisoned for not more
than 2 years, or both.’’
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that courts read these two sections togeth-
er to find that the FCRA imposes civil
liability upon any person who willfully ob-
tained information from a credit reporting
agency under false pretenses.  196
F.Supp.2d 585, 590 (S.D.Ohio 2001), citing
Kennedy v. Border City S & L Ass’n, 747
F.2d 367, 368 (6th Cir.1984).  However, as
this Court acknowledged in Thibodeaux,
Congress amended the FCRA in 1996, and
in essence codified the pre-amendment
case law reading these sections together.
Id. Therefore, reliance on § 1681q, a crimi-
nal liability statute, is unnecessary, as the
civil liability provisions now cover the act
of obtaining a consumer report without a
permissible purpose. See Phillips v. Gren-
dahl, 312 F.3d 357, 364 (8th Cir.2002).3

15 U.S.C. § 1681b(f) provides:

A person shall not use or obtain a con-
sumer report for any purpose unless—

(1) the consumer report is obtained for
a purpose for which the consumer
report is authorized to be furnished
under this section;  and

(2) the purpose is certified in accor-
dance with section with section
1681e of this title by a prospective

user of the report through a general
or specific certification.

At 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(a)(3), the FCRA
provides a list of permissible purposes: 4

(a) In general.  Subject to subsection (c)
of this section, any consumer report-
ing agency may furnish a consumer
report under the following circum-
stances and no other:

TTT

(3) To a person which it has reason to
believe—

(A) intends to use the information
in connection with a credit transac-
tion involving the consumer on
whom the information is to be fur-
nished and involving the extension
of credit to, or review or collection
of an account of, the consumer;

TTT

(F) otherwise has a legitimate busi-
ness need for the information—

(i) in connection with a business
transaction that is initiated by the
consumer;  or

3. As the Court in Phillips v. Grendahl ex-
plained:

After the Fair Credit Reporting Act was
enacted in 1970, courts noticed what ap-
peared to be a loophole.  The original sec-
tions 1681n and 1681o only created civil
liability for failure to comply with the Act.
The original section 1681b, which generally
stated the circumstances under which con-
sumer reporting agencies could provide re-
ports, did not impose a duty on users of
reports to refrain from requesting reports
without a proper purpose.
TTT

Courts avoided this loophole by reasoning
that since section 1681q created criminal
liability for requesting ‘‘information on a
consumer’’ using false pretenses, this prohi-
bition was a ‘‘requirement’’ of the Act, and
therefore provided the substantive basis for
civil liability.  See Hansen v. Morgan, 582

F.2d 1214, 1219 (9th Cir.1978);  Kennedy v.
Border City S & L Ass’n, 747 F.2d 367, 369

(6th Cir.1984);  Zamora v. Valley Fed. S & L
Ass’n, 811 F.2d 1368, 1370 (10th Cir.1987);

Yohay v. City of Alexandria Employees Cred-
it Union, Inc., 827 F.2d 967, 971–72 (4th

Cir.1987);  Northrop v. Hoffman of Sims-
bury, Inc., 134 F.3d 41, 47 (2d Cir.1997).
‘‘False pretenses’’ was interpreted to mean
failure to disclose the lack of a permissible
purpose.  See Northrop, 134 F.3d at 46 n. 6.

312 F.3d at 364.

4. Although § 1681b(a)(3) regulates those who
furnish consumer reports, the parties do not
dispute that consumer reports are subject to
its requirements.  Numerous other courts
have recognized the same.  See Smith v. Bob
Smith Chevrolet, Inc., 275 F.Supp.2d 808,
815, n. 2 (W.D.Ky.2003) and cases cited
therein.
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(ii) to review an account to deter-
mine whether the consumer contin-
ues to meet the terms of the ac-
count.

[1] Based on this statutory language,
courts have found that a plaintiff must
establish three elements in order to sus-
tain a claim of improper use or acquisition
of a credit report:  (i) that there was a
‘‘consumer report’’ within the meaning of
the statute;  (ii) that the defendant used or
obtained it;  and (iii) that the defendant did
so without a permissible statutory purpose.
McFarland v. Bob Saks Toyota, Inc., 466
F.Supp.2d 855, 867 (E.D.Mich.2006), citing
Phillips v. Grendahl, 312 F.3d at 364;  Gil-
lom v. Ralph Thayer Automotive Livonia,
Inc., 444 F.Supp.2d 763, 771 (E.D.Mich.
2006).  In addition, the plaintiff must dem-
onstrate that the defendant acted with the
requisite degree of culpability—either neg-
ligence, 15 U.S.C. § 1681o(a), or willful-
ness, 15 U.S.C. § 1681n(a)—in order to
impose civil liability under the FCRA. Id.
(citations omitted).

The parties only dispute whether Defen-
dant’s account review was a permissible
purpose and whether Plaintiff has demon-
strated that Defendant acted with the req-
uisite degree of culpability.

1. Permissible purpose

The parties argue that 15 U.S.C.
§ 1681b(a)(3)(A) and § 1681b(a)(3)(F) are
the relevant provisions in determining
whether Defendant accessed Plaintiff’s
credit information for a permissible pur-
pose.

The Court finds that there is no evi-
dence that as of the date of the account
review, Defendant intended to use Plain-
tiff’s information in connection with a cred-
it transaction involving Plaintiff.  There
were no credit transactions contemplated
between the parties, nor was there an
account upon which to collect.  Therefore,

Defendant did not have a permissible pur-
pose under section 1681b(a)(3)(A).

[2] Defendant cites to Levine v. World
Fin. Network Nat’l. Bank, 437 F.3d 1118
(11th Cir.2006), for the proposition that
FCRA allows a consumer reporting agency
to sell an ‘‘account review’’ to a creditor to
allow the creditor to ‘‘review an account to
determine whether the consumer continues
to meet the terms of the account.’’  Defen-
dant argues that it follows that a creditor
is permitted to purchase a report for the
purpose of reviewing a customer’s credit
score.

In Levine, the Eleventh Circuit noted
that the FCRA does not explicitly state
whether an account review under section
1681b(a)(3)(F) includes the review of ac-
counts that have been paid in full and
closed.  437 F.3d at 1121.  The court ex-
plained:

The statute contains overlapping lan-
guage in two provisions:  Section
1681b(a)(3)(A) permits the sale of a
credit report to a creditor who ‘‘intends
to use the information in connection with
a credit transaction involving the con-
sumer on whom the information is fur-
nished and involving the extension of
credit to, or review or collection of an
account of, the consumer.’’  Section
1681b(a)(3)(F)(ii) permits the sale of a
credit report to a creditor in order to
‘‘review an account to determine wheth-
er the consumer continues to meet the
terms of the account.’’

Id. at 1121–22.  The court noted that
‘‘[t]here is a difference in opinion on
whether the ambiguous language in FCRA
contains an absolute prohibition against
the sale of credit reports to former credi-
tors whose accounts are closed and paid in
full.’’  Id. at 1122, citing Wilting v. Pro-
gressive County Mut. Ins. Co., 227 F.3d
474, 476 (5th Cir.2000) (per curiam)
(‘‘[N]either [FCRA] nor the FTC’s com-
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mentary on [FCRA] suggests that a re-
port may only be permissibly obtained
during particular points in the parties’ re-
lationship.’’);  Letter from Clarke W.
Brinckerhoff, Federal Trade Commission,
to Kenneth J. Benner, American Council
on Consumer Awareness (Aug. 30, 1999)
(‘‘Once an account is closed because the
consumer has paid the debt in full TTT it is
our view that no permissible purpose ex-
ists for a [consumer reporting agency] to
provide file information TTT to the credi-
tor.  Because there no longer exists any
account to ‘review’ and the consumer is
not applying for credit, the FCRA pro-
vides no permissible purpose for the credi-
tor to receive a consumer report from [the
agency].’’).  However, the Levine court
found it was not necessary to resolve the
issue to rule on the motion to dismiss
before it.  Id. (‘‘In the absence of discov-
ery and a more fully developed record, we
reserve judgment on whether there is an
absolute prohibition against such requests
by former creditors for accounts that are
closed and paid in full.’’)

The Sixth Circuit has had occasion to
interpret the language in 1681b(a)(3)(A)
(permitting the sale of a credit report to a
creditor who ‘‘intends to use the informa-
tion in connection with a credit transaction
involving the consumer on whom the infor-
mation is furnished and involving the ex-
tension of credit to, or review or collection
of an account of, the consumer’’) in con-
junction with section 1681b(a)(3)(F)(ii)
(permitting the sale of a credit report to a
creditor in order to ‘‘review an account to
determine whether the consumer continues
to meet the terms of the account’’).

In Duncan v. Handmaker, 149 F.3d 424
(6th Cir.1998), the defendants relied on

section 1681b(3)(E), which was the prede-
cessor to the current 1681b(a)(3)(F).5  The
defendants, who were attorneys represent-
ing a lender, argued that they had a legiti-
mate business need for consumer reports
on the plaintiffs to prepare for litigation
the plaintiffs had initiated.  The defen-
dants argued the need for the information
was connected to the underlying business
transaction—the extension of the mort-
gage loan—between their client and the
plaintiffs.  The Sixth Circuit concluded
that based on the facts of the case, it was
unable to deem preparation for a negli-
gence suit ‘‘a legitimate business need TTT

in connection with a business transaction.’’
The court explained:

Unfortunately for [the defendants], we
must reject their effort to shoehorn the
use of the [the plaintiffs’] consumer re-
ports into § 1681b(3)(E).  Basic princi-
ples of statutory construction prevent us
from interpreting § 1681b(3)(E) in a
fashion that allows a party to obtain a
consumer report for a purpose only tan-
gentially related to the extension of
credit.  The rule of ejusdem generis
suggests that when general words-such
as those that appear in § 1681b(3)(E)-
follow specific terms, the general words
should be construed ‘‘to embrace only
objects similar in nature to those objects
enumerated by the preceding specific
words.’’  Section 1681b(3)(A) of the
FCRA focuses on the extension of credit
and the collection of debt.  It permits a
party to obtain a consumer report ‘‘in
connection with a credit transaction TTT

involving the extension of credit to, or
review or collection of an account of, the
consumer.’’ If we were to interpret
§ 1681b(3)(E) too broadly, we would

5. As part of the 1996 Amendment of the
FCRA, section 1681b(E), the ‘‘business need’’
exception, was re-labeled § 1681b(a)(3)(F).
The previous version read:  ‘‘(E) otherwise

has a legitimate business need for the infor-

mation in connection with a business transac-

tion involving the consumer.’’
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render the specificity of § 1681b(3)(A)
meaningless.  We also would inadver-
tently transform § 1681b(3)(E) into a
provision that enabled information-seek-
ers to circumvent the restrictions of the
FCRA.

Id. at 427 (citations omitted).  Cf. Spence
v. TRW, Inc., 92 F.3d 380 (6th Cir.1996)
(finding that consumer’s filing of lawsuit
against creditor, alleging false reporting of
past-due debt to credit reporting agency,
gave credit agency reason to believe that
creditor had legitimate business need for
copy of consumer’s residential mortgage
credit report in connection with prepara-
tion of its defense).

Similarly, in Smith v. Bob Smith Chev-
rolet, Inc. the court found that the defen-
dant, an automobile dealership, did not
have a legitimate business need to access
consumer’s credit report.  275 F.Supp.2d
808 (W.D.Ky.2003).  The plaintiff applied
for financing for a new vehicle and the
parties entered into an agreement for its
purchase.  Id. at 812.  The purchase price
reflected the plaintiff’s employee discount
and the trade in of the plaintiff’s used
vehicle.  Id. After the transaction was
complete, it was discovered that the defen-
dant had inadvertently doubled the amount
of the discount.  Id. The defendant then
accessed the plaintiff’s credit information
to determine whether he was continuing to
make payments on his trade-in vehicle and
paying for the insurance on the trade-in.
Id. at 812–13.

The defendant maintained that because
the transaction was in dispute, it needed to

ascertain the value of its collateral.  Id. at
816.  The defendant argued it had a legiti-
mate business need for the information in
connection with a business transaction that
was initiated by the consumer.  Id. The
court acknowledged that in the abstract, it
was true that the defendant accessed the
plaintiff’s credit report in connection with
a transaction that the plaintiff at one point
initiated.  Id. However, the court conclud-
ed that the FCRA uses the terms ‘‘in
connection with a transaction initiated by
the consumer’’ more restrictively.  Id.

The court noted that under the Act, the
definition of the term ‘‘consumer report’’
suggested that Congress primarily envi-
sioned consumer reports being disseminat-
ed for the purposes of assessing ‘‘eligibili-
ty.’’ 6  The court then turned to the other
specific permissible purposes listed in
1681b(a)(3).  Id. The court explained that
‘‘[t]he rule of ejusdem generis provides
that when general words follow an enu-
meration of specific terms, the general
words are construed to embrace only ob-
jects similar in nature to those objects
enumerated by the preceding specific
words.’’  Id., citing Washington State De-
partment of Social and Health Services v.
Guardianship Estate of Keffeler, 537 U.S.
371, 123 S.Ct. 1017, 154 L.Ed.2d 972
(2003).  The court concluded:

The definition of ‘‘consumer report’’
therefore includes those reports needed
to assess a consumer’s eligibility for a
benefit, as well as other predictable
needs—such as collecting money owed
under an agreement and assessing a

6. Under the FCRA:

The term ‘‘consumer report’’ means any
written, oral, or other communication of
any information by a consumer reporting
agency bearing on a consumer’s credit wor-
thiness, credit standing, credit capacity,
character, general reputation, personal
characteristics, or mode of living which is
used or expected to be used or collected in

whole or in part for the purpose of serving

as a factor in establishing the consumer’s

eligibility for—

(A) credit or insurance to be used primarily

for personal, family, or household purposes;

(B) employment purposes;  or

(C) any other purpose authorized under

section 604 [15 USCS § 1681b].
15 U.S.C. § 1681a(d).
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particular consumer’s credit or insur-
ance risk—that arise in the midst of a
typical business transaction.  In fact, in
every one of these situations, the con-
sumer report is obtained either to pro-
vide a benefit to a consumer or to collect
a pre-existing debt.

Id. at 817.  The court found that the two
permissible purposes stated in
§ 1681b(a)(3)(F), when read together bol-
stered this interpretation:

That is, § 1681b(a)(3)(F)(i) suggests the
retention of a credit report for the pur-
pose of furthering a business transaction
initiated by a consumer and
§ 1681b(a)(3)(F)(ii) permits the use of a
credit report to determine whether a
consumer continues to be eligible for a
benefit.  It is a basic principle of statu-
tory construction that a statute should
be read and construed as a whole.  Like
the definition of ‘‘consumer report’’ and
consistent with the other five specific
permissible purposes, these two permis-
sible purposes also suggest that Con-
gress intended to allow access to a con-
sumer report either when that access
would benefit a consumer or would facil-
itate the collection of pre-existing debt.

Id. (citation omitted).

Applying this interpretation to the facts
before it, the court explained that the de-
fendant’s reason for accessing the credit
report was not in connection with a stan-
dard business transaction that the plaintiff
initiated.  Id. Instead, the court found that
the defendant accessed the plaintiff’s cred-
it report to determine how much additional
money it could collect, apart from what the

two parties agreed upon in a standard
business transaction.  Id.

Almost certainly, [the defendant] did not
access [the plaintiff’s] credit report for a
reason beneficial to the consumer.  Nor
did [the defendant] access the credit re-
port to collect on a pre-existing debt.
Rather, [the defendant] accessed the re-
port for its own business purposes and
as part of a new event:  the recovery of
the duplicative discount.

Id. Accordingly, the court rejected the de-
fendant’s interpretation of the phrase ‘‘in
connection with’’ as being limitless.  Id.
The court explained:

Under [the defendant’s] reading, so long
as any company had a reason to ques-
tion any part of a transaction, it could
access a consumer’s credit report ‘‘in
connection with a business transaction’’
that at some point was ‘‘initiated by the
consumer.’’  That is, five weeks, five
months, or five years down the line, [the
defendant] could access [the plaintiff’s]
credit report if some dispute ever arose
about the contracted price.

Id. The court explained that neither the
specific language nor the overall scope of
the FCRA supported ‘‘such an interpreta-
tion would give commercial entities an un-
limited blank check to access and reaccess
a consumer credit report long after the
typical issues of eligibility, price, and fi-
nancing were determined.’’  Id. (emphasis
in original).  The court went on to analyze
the Federal Trade Commission’s interpre-
tation of the FCRA, which the court found
to confirm the court’s view.  Id. at 817–18.7

7. The court explained that the FTC is the
agency empowered to enforce the FCRA. 275
F.Supp.2d at 817, citing 15 U.S.C. § 1681s(a).
The court explained that in its commentary
on the ‘‘legitimate business need,’’ permissi-
ble purpose, the FTC stated:

Under this subsection, a party has a permis-
sible purpose to obtain a consumer report

on a consumer for use in connection with

some action the consumer takes from

which he or she might expect *818 to re-

ceive a benefit that is not more specifically
covered by subsections (A), (B), or (C).  For
example, a consumer report may be ob-
tained on a consumer who applies to rent
an apartment, offers to pay for goods with a
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Therefore, the court concluded that when
the defendant accessed the plaintiff’s cred-
it report it was not, as a practical matter,
part of the transaction which plaintiff initi-
ated.  Id. at 819.  The court explained that
transaction, in so far as the plaintiff’s eligi-
bility and debt was concerned, ended when
the parties created a contract for the car’s
price and the plaintiff paid that price in
full.  Id. Accordingly, the court found that
the defendant did not have a ‘‘legitimate
business need’’ for the plaintiff’s credit
report ‘‘in connection with a transaction
initiated by the consumer.’’  Id.

The Court has cited extensively to the
opinion in Smith v. Bob Smith Chevrolet,
because it finds its analysis and resultant
narrow approach in interpreting ‘‘legiti-
mate business need’’ to be correct.  Fur-
thermore, the court’s approach is in
keeping with the Sixth Circuit’s narrow
approach of interpretation in Duncan v.
Handmaker, 149 F.3d 424 (6th Cir.1998),
discussed above.

Defendant argues that it had a legiti-
mate business need for the account review
because Plaintiff remained the titleholder
of the property in which it had a security
interest.  Defendant argues further that it
needed to assess its risk of loss and pro-
tect its investments.  (See Baker Depo. at
24) 8 Defendant maintains that such an
account review is required by the security

instruments related to property interests.
(See Baker Depo. at 13–14)

The Court finds that Defendant did not
have a ‘‘legitimate business need’’ for
Plaintiff’s credit information.  The account
review could not be ‘‘in connection with a
transaction initiated by the consumer’’ be-
cause the only transaction between the
parties initiated by Plaintiff was the mort-
gage loan which had been discharged in
the bankruptcy proceedings.  The account
review was for a purpose only tangentially
related to the extension of credit.  There
is nothing in the record indicating that the
account review was obtained to either pro-
vide a benefit to Plaintiff or to collect a
pre-existing debt.  Notwithstanding Plain-
tiff’s name on the title to the property, as a
practical matter, the parties did not have
an existing relationship.  Plaintiff had sur-
rendered her rights to the property.  In
addition, Defendant would have been un-
able to collect any debt since it had been
discharged in the bankruptcy proceedings.
Therefore, Defendant did not have a per-
missible purpose under section
1681b(a)(3)(F).

2. Culpability

If a violation of the FCRA is negligent,
the plaintiff is entitled to actual damages
under section 1681o(a).9  If a violation is
willful, the plaintiff may have actual dam-
ages, statutory damages ranging from

check, applies for a checking account or
similar service, seeks to be included in a
computer dating service, or who has sought
and received overpayments of government
benefits that he has refused to return.

16 CFR Ch. 1, Pt. 600 App.

8. Defendant’s witness pursuant to Federal
Rule of Civil Procedure 30(b) explained that
when ‘‘we still have a title holder on a proper-
ty, that it is our duty to protect the investor
and/or the insured of the lien that is still held
on that property.’’  (Baker Depo. at 26)

9. This provision provides in relevant part:

(a) In general

Any person who is negligent in failing to

comply with any requirement imposed un-

der this subchapter with respect to any con-

sumer is liable to that consumer in an

amount equal to the sum of—

(1) any actual damages sustained by the

consumer as a result of the failure;  and

(2) in the case of any successful action to

enforce any liability under this section,

the costs of the action together with rea-

sonable attorney’s fees as determined by

the court.



943GODBY v. WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A.
Cite as 599 F.Supp.2d 934 (S.D.Ohio 2008)

$100 to $1,000, and punitive damages un-
der section 1681n(a).10

[3] Defendant does not argue that
Plaintiff cannot show that it acted negli-
gently.  However, Defendant does argue
that Plaintiff cannot show that it willfully
violated the FCRA because it acted with a
legitimate business purpose in accessing
Plaintiff’s credit information on a single
occasion, and had no impermissible pur-
pose for doing so.

[4] In Safeco Ins. Co. of America v.
Burr, the Supreme Court analyzed wheth-
er the phrase ‘‘willfully fails to comply’’ in
section 1681n(a) reaches reckless FCRA
violations.  551 U.S. 47, 127 S.Ct. 2201, 167
L.Ed.2d 1045 (2007).  The Court concluded
that where willfulness is a statutory condi-
tion of liability, the word covers not only
knowing violations of the statute, but also
reckless ones.  Id. at 2208.  The Court
explained that ‘‘[w]hile ‘the term reckless-
ness is not self-defining,’ the common law
has generally understood it in the sphere
of civil liability as conduct violating an
objective standard:  action entailing ‘an un-
justifiably high risk of harm that is either
known or so obvious that it should be
known.’ ’’  Id. at 2215, quoting Farmer v.
Brennan, 511 U.S. 825, 836, 114 S.Ct.

1970, 128 L.Ed.2d 811 (1994).  The Court
concluded that ‘‘a company subject to
FCRA does not act in reckless disregard
of it unless the action is not only a viola-
tion under a reasonable reading of the
statute’s terms, but shows that the compa-
ny ran a risk of violating the law substan-
tially greater than the risk associated with
a reading that was merely careless.’’  Id.
The Court found that even though one of
the two defendants had violated the stat-
ute, the violation was not reckless because
it was based on a reasonable reading of the
FCRA, and because there was no authori-
tative guidance from either the courts of
appeal or the Federal Trade Commission
on how the statute should be interpreted.
Id. at 2216.

[5] This Court has held that whether
conduct is willful under the FCRA is gen-
erally a question of fact for which sum-
mary judgment is not appropriate.  Wat-
son v. Citi Corp., 2008 WL 4186317, *10
(S.D.Ohio 2008), citing Holmes v. Tele-
check Int’l, Inc., 556 F.Supp.2d 819, 847
(M.D.Tenn.2008);  Thibodeaux v. Rupers,
196 F.Supp.2d 585, 592, citing Moore,
Owen, Thomas & Co. v. Coffey, 992 F.2d
1439, 1447 (6th Cir.1993).  However, given
the Supreme Court’s direction in Safeco
and the parties’ agreement that there are

10. This provision provides in relevant part:

(a) In general
Any person who willfully fails to comply
with any requirement imposed under this
subchapter with respect to any consumer is
liable to that consumer in an amount equal
to the sum of—
(1)(A) any actual damages sustained by the

consumer as a result of the failure or
damages of not less than $100 and not
more than $1,000;  or

(B) in the case of liability of a natural per-
son for obtaining a consumer report un-
der false pretenses or knowingly without
a permissible purpose, actual damages
sustained by the consumer as a result of
the failure or $1,000, whichever is great-
er;

(2) such amount of punitive damages as the

court may allow;  and

(3) in the case of any successful action to

enforce any liability under this section,

the costs of the action together with rea-

sonable attorney’s fees as determined by

the court.

(b) Civil liability for knowing noncompliance

Any person who obtains a consumer report

from a consumer reporting agency under

false pretenses or knowingly without a per-

missible purpose shall be liable to the con-

sumer reporting agency for actual damages

sustained by the consumer reporting agency

or $1,000, whichever is greater.
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no material facts in dispute, the Court
feels compelled to decide as a matter of
law whether Defendant’s actions are a will-
ful violation of the FCRA.

The Court cannot conclude that Defen-
dant acted in reckless disregard of wheth-
er it was complying with the Act. While
conducting an account review of Plaintiff’s
credit information is a violation under a
reasonable reading of the FCRA’s terms,
there is nothing in the record which shows
that Defendant ran a risk of violating the
law substantially greater than the risk as-
sociated with a reading that was merely
careless.  As Plaintiff admits, there is no
reported case that has decided whether
under 15 U.S.C. § 1681(a)(3) a user of
credit information can access a consumer’s
credit information concerning an account
which has been discharged in bankruptcy.
In addition, in Levine, the Eleventh Cir-
cuit noted that ‘‘[t]here is a difference in
opinion on whether the ambiguous lan-
guage in FCRA contains an absolute pro-
hibition against the sale of credit reports
to former creditors whose accounts are
closed and paid in full.’’  437 F.3d at 1122.
Therefore, Defendant did not have ‘‘the
benefit of guidance from the courts of ap-
peals.’’  Defendant also did not have au-
thoritative guidance from the FTC on the
issue.  Accordingly, the Court finds that
Plaintiff has not shown a willful violation
under 15 U.S.C § 1681n(a).

C. Damages

Defendant argues that Plaintiff cannot
establish that she suffered any damages,
and therefore it is entitled to summary
judgment.  Plaintiff’s Motion does not
reach the issue of damages, but only ad-
dresses liability.

As explained above, any person who is
found negligent in failing to comply with
any FCRA requirement is liable to the
consumer for actual damages sustained as

a result of the failure.  15 U.S.C. § 1681o.
In her Complaint, Plaintiff claims damages
for mental anguish, embarrassment, frus-
tration, humiliation, and emotional dis-
tress.  As this Court has explained:

While ‘‘actual damages’’ may include
emotional distress, because emotional
distress damages are so easy to manu-
facture, courts have imposed a strict
standard to be applied for them to be
recoverable.  Accordingly, generalized
claims of emotional injury are not
enough to establish damages.  When the
plaintiff’s testimony is the only proof of
emotional damages, he or she must ex-
plain the circumstances of the injury in
reasonable detail and cannot simply rely
on conclusory statements.

Garrett v. Trans Union, L.L.C., 2006 WL
2850499, *11 (S.D.Ohio Sept. 29, 2006) (un-
published) (citations omitted).  In addition,
a plaintiff must show a causal relationship
between the violation of the statute and
the loss of credit, or some other harm.  Id.
(citations omitted).

Because Defendant has moved for sum-
mary judgment on this point, it is Defen-
dant’s burden to demonstrate that there is
no genuine issue of material fact.  See
Boretti v. Wiscomb, 930 F.2d 1150, 1156
(6th Cir.1991) (explaining that the moving
party has the ‘‘burden of showing that the
pleadings, depositions, answers to inter-
rogatories, admissions and affidavits in the
record, construed favorably to the nonmov-
ing party, do not raise a genuine issue of
material fact for trial’’), quoting Gutierrez
v. Lynch, 826 F.2d 1534, 1536 (6th Cir.
1987).  Defendant has not carried that
burden here.  Therefore, Defendant’s Mo-
tion for Summary Judgment is DENIED
as to the issue of damages.

III. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the parties Mo-
tions for Summary Judgment (Docs. 19,



945JOHNSON v. U.S.
Cite as 599 F.Supp.2d 945 (S.D.Ohio 2008)

20) are DENIED in PART and GRANT-
ED in PART. The sole remaining issue for
determination is the calculation of actual
damages under 15 U.S.C. § 1681o that
Plaintiff sustained as a result of Defen-
dant’s negligent violation of 15 U.S.C.
§ 1681b(a)(3)(F).

IT IS SO ORDERED.

,

  

Roger C. JOHNSON, Plaintiff

v.

UNITED STATES of America,
et al., Defendant.

Civil Action No. 2:08–cv–12.

United States District Court,
S.D. Ohio,

Eastern Division.

Dec. 19, 2008.

Background:  Pensioner brought action
against United States and investment com-
pany, claiming that they were illegally tak-
ing funds from his pension check pursuant
to an invalid Internal Revenue Service
(IRS) levy. Government moved to dismiss
and company moved for summary judg-
ment.

Holdings:  The District Court, James L.
Graham, J., held that:

(1) investment company was immune from
suit, and

(2) United States was entitled to sovereign
immunity.

Motions granted.

1. Internal Revenue O4855
Investment company, having surren-

dered pensioner’s property to the Internal
Revenue Service (IRS) pursuant to an IRS
notice levy, which required company to
deduct $2,290.83 every month from pen-
sioner’s monthly pension payment to satis-
fy unpaid taxes, was discharged of any
obligation or liability to pensioner, thus
rendering it immune from suit for comply-
ing with levy.  26 U.S.C.A. § 6332(e).

2. United States O78(5.1)
Pensioner’s suit against United States,

for its alleged taking of funds from pension
check pursuant to an allegedly invalid In-
ternal Revenue Service (IRS) levy, fell
within exception to Federal Tort Claims
Act’s (FTCA) waiver of sovereign immuni-
ty, as to the collection or assessment of
any tax.  28 U.S.C.A. § 2680(c).

3. United States O125(3, 6)
United States may not be sued with-

out its consent, and such consent is strictly
construed.

4. United States O125(3, 5)
To maintain an action against the

United States in federal court, a plaintiff
must identify a statute that confers subject
matter jurisdiction on the district court
and a federal law that waives the sovereign
immunity of the United States to the cause
of action.

Roger C. Johnson, Cambridge, OH, pro
se.

Gerald C. Miller, U.S. Dept. of Justice,
Washington, DC, Ronald Harold Isroff,
Ulmer & Berne, Cleveland, OH, David M.
Davis, John M. Boyda, Hardy, Lewis &
Page, P.C., Birmingham, MI, Rebecca
Beata Jacobs, Ulmer & Berne, Columbus,
OH, for Defendant.


